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(1)

CRUDE OIL: THE SOURCE OF HIGHER GAS 
PRICES? 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 7, 2004 

UNITED STATES SENATE, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON ANTITRUST, COMPETITION POLICY AND 

CONSUMER RIGHTS, COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY, 
Washington, DC. 

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:53 p.m., in room 
SD–226, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Mike DeWine, 
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding. 

Present: Senators DeWine, Specter, Craig, Kohl, Leahy, and 
Schumer. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. MIKE DEWINE, A U.S. SENATOR 
FROM THE STATE OF OHIO 

Chairman DEWINE. Good afternoon. Let me welcome all of you 
to the Antitrust Subcommittee hearing on the causes of higher gas 
prices in the United States. 

As most Americans know, we are in the middle of another round 
of painful increases in gasoline prices. The national average has 
reached a new record high for self-serve unleaded gas, and that is 
about $1.80 per gallon. Recently, in my home State of Ohio, gas 
prices have been even higher. In Marietta, Ohio, for example, gas 
was $1.84 per gallon recently. In Cleveland, it was $1.86, and in 
Columbus it topped out at $1.88 at some stations. Many analysts 
predict that prices could break the important psychological barrier 
of $2.00 per gallon this summer. 

Although the prices this time around seem particularly high, the 
American consumer has unfortunately been here before. Since the 
1970’s, when we first experienced the so-called oil shocks, periodic 
price spikes seem to have become as predictable as the seasons 
changing. Though these spikes no longer surprise us, they continue 
to harm consumers, weaken the economy and leave us with an im-
portant question: What, if anything, should lawmakers be doing to 
address this recurring problem? 

Today, we hope to address that question in a setting where we 
can explore the reasons for high-price gasoline and consider pos-
sible policy steps. We do have excellent panelists and we will hear 
from a number of experts who will offer their perspectives on the 
root causes for higher gasoline prices. 

But I want to stress one thing upon which I think there will be 
universal agreement. The single most important factor affecting 
gas prices in the United States is the price of crude oil. We have 
a chart over there which indicates that. 
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As we can see from our chart, as of March 2004, crude oil is the 
largest single component of the gasoline price, making up nearly 
half of the overall price that consumers pay at the pump. Beyond 
that, the Federal Trade Commission has said that changes in crude 
oil prices account for approximately 85 percent of the variability of 
gasoline prices. In other words, the changes in crude oil prices lead 
directly to the gasoline price spikes that cause so much economic 
distress. 

Of U.S. imported crude oil, more than 40 percent comes from 
OPEC member nations. Last week, OPEC met in Austria and de-
cided to cut production by 4 percent, down about 1 million barrels 
to 23.5 million barrels per day. The price of a barrel of oil is al-
ready very high, between $35 to $38 per barrel. And according to 
some analysts, the price is likely to break the $40-per-barrel ceil-
ing. 

Of course, OPEC’s decision to decrease supply likely will increase 
U.S. gasoline prices further, causing American consumers to suffer 
more. That is why last week Senator Kohl and I reintroduced our 
No Oil Producing and Exporting Cartels Act of 2004, or our 
NOPEC bill. 

The purpose of the bill is to end OPEC’s flagrant violation of our 
antitrust laws. This is hard-core cartel behavior and should not be 
tolerated. If OPEC were a group of international oil companies get-
ting together to set prices and cut output, it could be prosecuted 
under U.S. antitrust laws. But to this day, OPEC continues to re-
ceive special treatment under U.S. antitrust law. Our bill would re-
move the legal obstacles that have protected OPEC until now and 
gives our antitrust enforcement agencies the tools they need to 
prosecute OPEC. 

First, NOPEC, this bill, responds to a 1979 Federal district court 
opinion that found that OPEC’s activities were, and I quote, ‘‘gov-
ernmental,’’ not ‘‘commercial,’’ and therefore protected from pros-
ecution under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. 

Second, our bill responds to a 1981 Federal court of appeals deci-
sion where the court refused to hear that same case against OPEC 
based on the so-called ‘‘act of state doctrine,’’ which states that a 
court will not judge the legality of the sovereign acts of a foreign 
country. 

Finally, our bill gives the Department of Justice and the Federal 
Trade Commission explicit authority to prosecute OPEC. In short, 
our bill says to OPEC, no more special treatment under U.S. anti-
trust law. One of our expert witnesses today will offer his legal 
analysis of our proposed law and we look forward to his testimony. 

We are going to try to move the NOPEC bill and are hopeful that 
if it becomes law, it will help restore market discipline to crude oil 
prices. But even if we do manage to get crude oil prices back in line 
with the laws of supply and demand, there is a range of other fac-
tors that affect gasoline prices, and we will consider those today as 
well. 

For example, the proliferation of specialty gases creates a par-
ticularly complex part of the supply problem, as our chart over 
there indicates, as well. In the United States, as we can see from 
this chart, a number of State and local governments have different 
gasoline grades that they use to achieve EPA mandates for cleaner 
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air. There are currently 18 different grades sold in the United 
States. This creates two supply problems. First, it reduces the 
availability of substitutes to cushion supply and price shocks. Sec-
ond, it makes importing gas harder because many foreign refiners 
do not provide non-conventional gas grades. 

Refining capacity is another part of the gasoline supply problem 
and a number of people believe it is the key problem we are facing 
today. There are about 145 refineries currently operating in the 
United States. In the last 15 to 20 years, no new refineries have 
been built and about 75 have been closed. 

Although the efficiency of the remaining refineries has been im-
proved, refinery capacity is still strained. In fact, refinery capacity 
utilization rates are running at about 90 to 95 percent today. This 
leaves the system with very little margin for error, because a fire 
or other accident that temporarily shuts down a refinery cannot be 
easily accommodated by increased output from another refinery. 
Even worse, there is no solution on the horizon. Despite the high 
demand for gasoline, refiners are unwilling to build new refineries 
because of cost, environmental issues and expected local opposition. 

Another controversial aspect of the gasoline pricing problem is 
the issue of concentration within the refining industry. Those who 
have followed the work of this Subcommittee are well aware of the 
merger wave that rolled through the U.S. economy in the 1990’s. 
That wave engulfed the petroleum industry as well. 

Mergers such as Exxon–Mobil, BP–Amoco and Conoco–Phillips 
clearly increased concentration levels both upstream, in exploration 
and production, and downstream, in refining and retailing. Now, 
whether or not this concentration has reached a level high enough 
to raise competition concerns is a matter of some dispute. 

For example, in 1983 the top five refiners controlled approxi-
mately 35 percent of the U.S. domestic refining market. In 2003, 
that number increased to over 50 percent. From a pure antitrust 
merger analysis point of view, I question whether these concentra-
tion levels are high enough to merit serious concern, but we will 
consider this issue during the course of today’s hearing. 

In addition, we will examine a number of other secondary factors 
contributing to the recent increase in gas prices, such as strong 
growth in the U.S. and China’s demand for oil. Finally, we will 
touch today on the state of competition in the market for natural 
gas, which is also selling at prices approaching historic highs. 

Let me now turn to my friend and colleague, the Ranking Mem-
ber of the Subcommittee, Senator Kohl. 

STATEMENT OF HON. HERB KOHL, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE 
STATE OF WISCONSIN 

Senator KOHL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Chairman, we are reminded everyday when we drive by a 

gas station that Americans are paying record levels for a gallon of 
gas. Gas prices now average $1.78 a gallon nationally and $1.80 in 
my State of Wisconsin. Prices over $2.00 a gallon are now common 
throughout our country. 

These rising gas prices are felt throughout the economy. They 
are a silent tax that takes hard-earned money away from Ameri-
cans every time they visit the gas pump. Higher gas prices drive 
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up the cost of transportation, harming every sector of the economy 
from aviation to trucking. Those costs are passed on to consumers 
in the form of higher prices for manufactured goods. Higher oil 
prices also mean higher heating and electricity costs. 

So let’s examine the cause of these rising prices. First, we need 
to look at the price of crude oil. Indeed, the FTC states that 85 per-
cent of the variability in the cost of gasoline can be accounted for 
by the price of crude oil. Simply put, the cost of crude oil moves 
the price of a gallon of gas. And as we all know, OPEC sets the 
price of oil. 

OPEC’s actions to manipulate the oil market cost Americans bil-
lions of dollars every year. If the members of OPEC were private 
companies and not nations, they long ago would have been pros-
ecuted for engaging in illegal price-fixing. 

The bill that Senator DeWine and I introduced last week, and 
which passed the Judiciary Committee unanimously in 2000, would 
end this injustice by subjecting OPEC to antitrust suits in U.S. 
courts. While NOPEC is not a panacea, a lawsuit or threat of a 
lawsuit will give our Government the first real weapon it has ever 
had to deter OPEC from its seemingly endless cycle of price in-
creases. 

But restraining OPEC is not the entire answer. There are other 
factors that lead to higher gas prices. In the face of ever-increasing 
demand and higher prices, the domestic oil industry has not re-
sponded as we would have expected by increasing refinery capacity. 
Instead, numerous refineries have been closed—about 75 over the 
past 15 years—and none have been opened for many years, but it 
must also be said that existing refineries have also increased their 
capacity. 

Refinery capacity, now operating at 95 percent, has become a 
bottleneck, limiting supply and causing price spikes whenever an 
accident occurs. Indeed, critics argue that oil companies have cho-
sen not to expand refining capacity in order to gain market power 
in order to keep prices high. While there are clearly barriers to ex-
panding refinery capacity, at the same time the antitrust authori-
ties must not permit oil companies with market power to delib-
erately withhold supply to raise prices. 

In addition, mergers in the oil industry have left a dangerous 
level of consolidation in their wake. The oil companies not only drill 
the oil, but they also refine it and they also own the gas pumps 
as well. The five largest oil companies now control more than half 
of our domestic refining capacity and more than 60 percent of the 
national retail gasoline market. This level of concentration, mag-
nified in some areas, permits just a few competitors to control 
prices. Just as importantly, this consolidation has virtually elimi-
nated independent retailers and refiners and the competition that 
they provide. Where there has been a high degree of integration be-
tween refiners and retailers, consumers pay higher prices. 

For the last 4 years, Senator DeWine and I have repeatedly 
called upon the FTC to study the cause for high prices. The FTC 
should remain vigilant in monitoring gas price increases, but it 
must do more. Antitrust authorities must scrutinize future oil in-
dustry mergers with a keen eye toward preserving the competitive 
benefits of independent retailers and refiners. 
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So, Mr. Chairman, it is time for action to end the ever-escalating 
pattern of gas price increases that are regularly inflicted on our 
Nation’s consumers. Our NOPEC bill is one place to start, but we 
must also do more to ensure that the conditions exist to lower gas 
prices for all Americans. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman DEWINE. Senator Kohl, thank you very much. 
Senator Specter.

STATEMENT OF HON. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SENATOR FROM 
THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA 

Senator SPECTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the outset, Mr. 
Chairman, I thank you for convening this very timely hearing. 
There is no doubt that the actions by OPEC are drastically increas-
ing the cost of gasoline and oil in the United States. 

On February 10, OPEC curtailed oil production by 1.5 million 
barrels a day, and then on March 31 an additional 1 million barrels 
a day. Oil has now reached the staggering price of $38 a barrel, 
which is the highest it has been since the Gulf War, in 1991. 

I believe that our Department of Justice and our Federal Trade 
Commission have been lax in not acting against the clear-cut viola-
tion of U.S. law, conspiracy and restraint of trade, which is clear-
cut on what OPEC has been doing for years. I have studied this 
issue in some detail, and on April 11, 1998, I wrote to President 
Clinton outlining a course of action for lawsuits to hold OPEC re-
sponsible. I wrote the same letter to President Bush on April 25, 
2001. 

Mr. Chairman, I would ask unanimous consent that both of those 
letters be made a part of the record. 

Chairman DEWINE. Without objection, they will be made part of 
the record. 

Senator SPECTER. The essential points which I made in these let-
ters—they really are, in effect, a legal brief—are that a suit in Fed-
eral court would be appropriate under U.S. antitrust laws, and 
there is not immunity under act of state or sovereign immunity. 
When they are engaged in a commercial transaction, there is no 
doubt they are subject to the antitrust laws. There has been an 
evolving recognition of international law that they are bound by 
the antitrust laws, which was a possible defense early in the inter-
pretation of the antitrust laws. 

The letter which I sent to President Clinton was cosigned by you, 
Mr. Chairman; the ranking member, Senator Kohl; Senator Thur-
mond; Senator Schumer; and Senator Biden. It is high time that 
that action was taken. I believe the action can be taken under ex-
isting law, but I do believe, Mr. Chairman, that the legislation 
which you have reintroduced, Senate bill 2270, is a very good bill. 
It removes it from a common law interpretation so that there is 
specific legislation which provides that sovereign immunity does 
not bar an action or that the act of state does not bar an action. 

So it is really time to get on with it, and the American people 
are clamoring for relief. It is just really outrageous that we are 
being gouged by OPEC at the gas pump. We have had a very heavy 
winter. We are now about to provide for LIHEAP, low-income en-
ergy assistance, $2 billion-plus. 
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It is high time we focused on the fact that the Saudis are not our 
friends on so many lines. On terrorism, which they are sponsoring 
under the guise of helping charitable organizations, 15 of the hi-
jackers on 9/11 were from Saudi Arabia. And they are continuing 
to gouge the American consumers and it is time we acted to stop 
them. So I hope this hearing will provide an impetus to do just 
that. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman DEWINE. Senator Leahy. 

STATEMENT OF HON. PATRICK J. LEAHY, A U.S. SENATOR 
FROM THE STATE OF VERMONT 

Senator LEAHY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I am going to be home this weekend and when I go to the gaso-

line pump and I am pumping gasoline in my car, my neighbors in 
Middlesex, Vermont, are going to say, Pat, what is going on? Why 
are we paying so much? If we have a Vermont farm, why are our 
profit margins, which are historically thin anyway, being cut out 
entirely by this? 

Frankly, I have to say that not enough is being done by our Gov-
ernment or by others to cut down the price of fuel. I hope that to-
day’s hearing tells both the administration and foreign govern-
ments that the American people and the Congress demand that we 
use the tools we have available to keep gasoline prices affordable. 
I feel as one Vermonter that if we don’t have enough legal tools, 
then let’s find some more and pass those. 

We know, and most Americans do, why high prices are at the 
pump. The OPEC cartel sets production quotas for member coun-
tries and prevents the free market from setting crude oil prices. I 
agree very much with the Senator from Pennsylvania when he says 
we ought to realize that the Saudis are not the great friends that 
they say they are. I think they have demonstrated that in one 
thing after another. 

As of April 5, the U.S. Department of Energy reports the nation-
wide average price of a gallon of gasoline is $1.78. Now, on this 
chart, just to give you an idea, that is an increase of $.60 since the 
year 2001. Some are saying it may go up to $3.00 this summer. 
That is going to be like what we saw in real dollars during the 
shortages of the early 1980’s. And that seems likely, since OPEC 
met on March 31 and they decided to cut the output of oil even fur-
ther, not only cutting it by a million barrels a day, but they wanted 
to increase that. 

A Nigerian petroleum advisory says that they are considering 
raising prices $3.00 a barrel. That is going to increase costs to con-
sumers, small businesses and, in my State, the dairy industry, 
among others. Vermont dairies are experiencing 40-percent higher 
fuel prices. 

In a normal time, we ask the famous question ‘‘Got milk?’’ Today, 
we ask ‘‘Got enough money for gas?’’ To give you an idea, in a typ-
ical dairy operation in the Northeast it adds $5,000 to their costs. 
This shouldn’t be falling on all of us. 

I think Senator DeWine and Senator Kohl deserve thanks for 
their leadership on the NOPEC bill. It is obvious that we are not 
going to get help otherwise to deal with the gas crisis that is a 
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threat to our families, our farmers, our truck drivers. If the admin-
istration can’t say no OPEC, then we ought to try to do it. 

OPEC has tried to dismiss criticism about the high price of gaso-
line through disingenuous arguments. Actually, the consumption of 
oil has remained relatively level over the past few years, and no-
body could say with a straight face that a 60-percent increase per 
gallon in price is because of tough environmental rules by the Bush 
administration. Give me a break. This is not right. In fact, there 
is a letter by Senator Bingaman to the President, and I would ask 
that that be made part of the record. 

I am glad to see this hearing. I wrote to Senator Hatch urging 
such a hearing a couple of weeks ago. I have praised both Senator 
DeWine and Senator Kohl so many times in these hearings that I 
am afraid it may hurt them back home, but I just want to praise 
you two one more time. This is an important hearing. 

I will put the rest of the statement in the record. 
[The prepared statement of Senator Leahy appears as a submis-

sion for the record.] 
Chairman DEWINE. Thank you very much. 
Senator Schumer.

STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES E. SCHUMER, A U.S. SENATOR 
FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK 

Senator SCHUMER. I want to thank you, Mr. Chairman, for hold-
ing this hearing. I want to thank you and Senator Kohl for being 
leaders on this issue, as you are on so many other antitrust issues. 
I want to thank our witnesses today, as well, and appreciate the 
opportunity to talk about natural gas as well as oil, although obvi-
ously I want to talk about both. 

Let me say, Mr. Chairman, that I believe that the Federal Gov-
ernment has an obligation to take decisive, aggressive and imme-
diate action to curtail energy price spikes and make sure that en-
ergy costs stop creating hardships for working families throughout 
the United States. 

I am sure everyone here is familiar with the legend of the Ber-
muda Triangle, where planes and ships mysteriously disappear and 
are never heard from again. Well, over the past few months, Amer-
ican consumers feel like the same thing has happened to their en-
ergy dollar. But this triangle is the Saudi triangle, composed of 
OPEC, big oil companies and a lack of action by the administration 
to stem the tide of increasing prices. 

At one point in this triangle we have OPEC, which just last week 
announced its continued commitment to reducing production by a 
million barrels a day, despite the fact that crude oil was already 
approaching record prices. The decision is motivated purely by 
greed and a desire to bolster budgets and increase profits for 
OPEC’s largest producers, like Saudi Arabia, by taking money out 
of the wallets of average American families. 

There are also indications that more OPEC action to pinch us at 
the pump may be on the way. They have sort out thrown out the 
window the $28 ceiling and they are now maximizing their profit-
ability because basically no one is stopping them and they have 
been getting a green light. 
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At the second point in the triangle is the trend of consolidation 
in the oil industry. Over the past 5 years, mergers between the big-
gest players in the market and increasing vertical integration have 
made consumers more vulnerable to exploitation at the pump. Cur-
rently, the top five oil companies in the U.S. control 14 percent of 
global production—almost as much as the Middle Eastern members 
of OPEC—over half of domestic refiner capacity and 60 percent of 
the retail gasoline market. 

This lack of competition has made the oil and gasoline markets 
vulnerable to market manipulation through the withholding of sup-
ply and other means, leading to longer, increasingly frequent price 
spikes and weakening any downward pressure on prices that exists 
in healthy and competitive markets. 

To make matters worse, these highly concentrated companies are 
sometimes directly tied to OPEC producers, as in the case of 
Motiva, a 50–50 venture between Shell and Saudi Aramco. The 
companies do nothing but benefit from high prices by reaping wind-
fall profits and creating a win-win scenario for big oil at the ex-
pense of the American consumer. As prices go up and as OPEC 
raises prices, oil company profitability goes up. So they are on 
board for the ride. 

At the third point of the triangle, I regret to say, Mr. Chairman, 
lies the administration, which has a ‘‘hear no evil, see no evil, do 
no evil’’ attitude. They have not taken any aggressive action to pro-
vide needed relief to the American driver. It is bad enough that it 
hasn’t happened so far, but if they don’t do anything soon, gas 
prices are going to be sky-high as we go into the summer months. 

OPEC’s ability to brazenly raise prices and fill its coffers is in 
part as a result of the administration’s inability to engage and in-
fluence oil-producing nations to cooperate with U.S. needs and as 
a consequence of hostility that the administration’s foreign policy 
has engendered toward America throughout the world. 

The President says he is close to the Saudi royal family, but time 
and time again when dealing with the Saudis, it is America that 
gets the short end of the stick. They tolerate Wahabbi extremists 
who preach hate and terror against the U.S., they refuse to allow 
our law enforcement the access it needs to investigate crimes, and 
now they are holding us hostage to high gas prices. 

What Uncle Sam gave us with the tax cuts, the $400 rebate 
every family got, he is now allowing the Saudis to take away with 
exorbitant prices at the pump. The President has the power to 
weigh in against the Saudis, but he is not using it. It is time he 
did. So we have this new Bermuda triangle—OPEC, consolidated 
big oil and a do-nothing policy from the administration. 

Let me say we have some weapons. First, we should stop adding 
100,000 barrels of oil a day to the SPR. A majority of Senators 
voted for that amendment. The administration has also missed an 
opportunity to prevent gasoline price spikes by failing to approve 
oxygenate waiver requests from States like New York and Cali-
fornia, which are being forced to use ethanol this summer, raising 
prices. Most importantly, they refuse to use the SPR as our ace in 
the hole against the Saudis and against big oil and bring prices 
down. 
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As you know, Mr. Chairman, I have been advocating this for a 
long time. It took me about a year to get the Clinton administra-
tion to use it. When they did, prices went down; they stayed down. 
And the amount of oil in the SPR went up because the swap en-
abled us to get more oil for what we put into the market several 
months later. 

So we need a long-term solution—that is not what we are here 
to talk about today—that involves both new exploration and con-
servation. But we need a short-term solution, lest our economy go 
down the drain. I hope that we can break the influence of this tri-
angle, get to work and do something good to reduce prices. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman DEWINE. Senator Craig. 

STATEMENT OF HON. LARRY CRAIG, A U.S. SENATOR FROM 
THE STATE OF IDAHO 

Senator CRAIG. Well, Mr. Chairman, I largely came to listen 
today to our colleagues, and certainly to those who are experts in 
this field. 

All of us are concerned about high prices at the pump, but why 
should we be surprised? This Congress has refused to act in any 
progressive manner to increase production in this country for the 
last decade. So the blame game is now underway and we will hold 
hearings, as we should. 

At the same time, a decade and 39 States’ investigations have 
not yet pointed to effective wrongdoing on the part of any producer 
in large part. What we have is a dysfunctional market today be-
cause we no longer control our destiny. We can bite around the 
edges, if we wish to, and we will, and we will try to find someone 
else to accuse. 

I have given in the last two weeks three speeches on the floor 
of the U.S. Senate on this issue. I am certainly no expert in it, but 
I have studied it closely as a member of the Energy Committee for 
the last 7 years. The problem is the U.S. Congress today, and the 
consumers of America ought to know it. 

We are no longer allowing this Nation to produce in any and 
every way we should. We should be encouraging the production of 
domestic oil, we should be encouraging the development of natural 
gas, we should be encouraging the building of necessary infrastruc-
ture like the Alaska natural gas pipeline, we should be encouraging 
the use of renewable fuels like ethanol, we should be encouraging 
more renewable energy. We should be encouraging the construction 
of new nuclear plants, clean coal technology, new hydrogen produc-
tion, promoting energy efficiency and increasing the R and D on a 
variety of technologies. 

The Senator from New York and I differ a little, but at the same 
time there are many things on this issue we tend to agree on. The 
manipulation of SPR during the Clinton years effectively changed 
the price at the pump by one cent. Those are the facts on the 
books. 

So I am here to listen. It is obvious I have strong opinions on 
this issue. I think the consumers are gaining strong opinions on 
this issue, as they should. I hope they reflect on Congress’ unwill-
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ingness or inability to act on this issue in any progressive and com-
prehensive form for well over a decade. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman DEWINE. We will turn now to our colleague and 

friend, Senator Ron Wyden. 

STATEMENT OF HON. RON WYDEN, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE 
STATE OF OREGON 

Senator WYDEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I very 
much appreciate your giving me the chance to come. I would ask, 
with your indulgence, if my full remarks could be made part of the 
record. 

Chairman DEWINE. They will certainly be made part of the 
record. 

Senator WYDEN. I thank you. 
First, it is obvious if you want to get anything important done 

in this town, it has got to be bipartisan, and I congratulate you and 
Senator Kohl for doing that. That is what it is going to take to real-
ly make some changes in this area. And that is what the public is 
asking. The public is saying, are you all in Washington going to do 
anything or are you just going to talk about it? 

What I would like to do is just outline briefly what I think would 
be an effective bipartisan package in this area. Let me start by say-
ing that I think the gasoline consumer is about to be hit by a per-
fect storm, and there are really three factors behind this storm that 
is coming. 

The first is what we have all talked about today, the OPEC she-
nanigans. The second involves refinery cutbacks, and the third in-
volves the Federal Trade Commission sitting on its hands in the 
face of documented anticompetitive practices. 

I would just say, Mr. Chairman, that I think if we took your bill 
which deals with OPEC and my legislation, which is S. 1737, the 
Gasoline Free Market Competition Act, we could systemically tack-
le those three factors that come together to create what I call the 
perfect storm. 

First, with respect to OPEC, put me down as a cosponsor of your 
legislation. 

Chairman DEWINE. We will add your name. We appreciate it. 
Thank you. 

Senator WYDEN. Look, I have been saying all week OPEC stands 
up for OPEC. Anybody who thinks OPEC stands up for the Amer-
ican consumer thinks Colonel Sanders stands up for the chickens. 
I mean, it is just a preposterous idea that OPEC is going to do any-
thing for the consumer. So I am very glad that you and Senator 
Kohl have teamed up in that area, and I want to be a cosponsor 
of your legislation. 

But I think we ought to be clear, and the Consumer Federation 
has offered an interesting report in this area that, for example, oil 
company refinery margins are taking an even bigger bite out of the 
consumer’s pocket, as is the OPEC cartel. That is why I would very 
much like to merge my bill with the fine bill that you and Senator 
Kohl have because while taking action against OPEC will be very 
constructive, it won’t provide full relief if Congress looks the other 
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way when it comes to anticompetitive practices right here in our 
markets here at home. 

So just as you, Chairman DeWine and Senator Kohl, seek to pro-
vide new tools with respect to dealing with OPEC, that is what I 
am seeking to do with respect to making sure we have competition 
in our markets in this country. And to illustrate the need for my 
bill, I would like to talk about what is going on in Bakersfield, 
California, right now with the refinery cutbacks because I think it 
provides a textbook case of how these anticompetitive practices are 
perpetrated in our country. 

Obviously, when you ask about what is going on on the West 
Coast, they are saying what does that mean for us in Ohio and 
Wisconsin and other parts of the country? But what I offer up is 
inaction by the Federal Trade Commission on the growing problem 
of refinery shutdowns, which is clobbering my constituents now 
and is going to hurt people all over this country. 

What has happened in Bakersfield exemplifies how these refin-
ery shutdowns are going to hurt people across the Nation. Suffice 
it to say there were 24 refineries that closed between 1995 and 
2001. So you are talking about a combined capacity of more than 
800,000 barrels per day, including many on the West Coast of the 
United States. 

I got involved in this issue with respect to refinery cutbacks, Mr. 
Chairman and colleagues, in 2001 when we came upon some inter-
nal oil company memos involving the closed Powerine refinery in 
southern California. One of the company documents then revealed 
that if the Powerine refinery was restarted, the additional gasoline 
supply on the market could bring down gas prices by two to three 
cents a gallon. And it called for, and I quote, ‘‘a full-court press to 
keep the refinery down.’’ So you have oil company documents that 
called for keeping a refinery down while they are saying that it 
could increase profit margins. 

That refinery was about 20,000 barrels per day. The one we are 
talking about in Bakersfield, which services the whole West Coast, 
about a third of my constituents, involves 70,000 barrels per day. 
So if Bakersfield goes down, this is going to be very, very harmful 
to the entire West Coast of the United States. 

I will tell you, Mr. Chairman and colleagues, this Bakersfield 
deal smells. First, we know that Shell has made no significant ef-
fort to try to find a buyer in that area. Second, a number of inde-
pendent experts have documented that there is a substantial 
amount of oil in that area in the San Joaquin Valley. Recent news 
articles have reported both Chevron–Texaco and the State of Cali-
fornia estimate that the San Joaquin Valley, where the Bakersfield 
refinery is located, has a 20- to 25-year supply of crude oil remain-
ing. 

The Bakersfield paper indicated that there are 300 more new 
wells now being pursued this year than last year. And Texaco, 
Shell’s former partner in the Bakersfield area, is actually increas-
ing its drilling. So this certainly calls into question Shell’s claim 
that a lack of available oil supply is the real reason for closing the 
refinery. Another reason to question Shell’s claim about the avail-
ability of crude oil is the fact that Shell is currently the subject of 
an inquiry that we know about for misstating its crude oil reserves. 
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So I have repeatedly asked the Federal Trade Commission to 
look into this and other anticompetitive practices, and they have 
just been AWOL. I know you are going to have them testify today. 
They have talked in the past about being concerned. They have 
talked in the past about doing sort of informal surveys, when our 
constituents are getting mugged at the pump. They have abdicated 
their responsibilities. 

By the way, Mr. Chairman, just so it is clear that my concern 
here is bipartisan, I don’t think the Clinton administration covered 
itself with glory over at the Federal Trade Commission either. I 
think this is a systemic problem and it needs to be dealt with in 
a bipartisan fashion. 

So let me wrap up, if I might, by saying exactly the three areas 
that my legislation would change that I think would give us some 
tools to deal with the refinery cutbacks, the anticompetitive prac-
tices, and I think could complement the kind of work that you and 
Senator Kohl are trying to do with respect to OPEC. 

First, under my legislation the Federal Trade Commission would 
be empowered to issue cease and desist orders to prevent indi-
vidual companies from gouging consumers. This is not allowed 
under current law, so we would give them cease and desist powers 
to prevent gouging of consumers when it is perpetrated by an indi-
vidual company. 

Second, we would stipulate that the Federal Trade Commission 
would have the authority to put the burden on the oil companies 
to show that certain practices, such as the Bakersfield refinery 
shutdown or red-lining and zone pricing which has been found in 
the past—that the company has got to show that this doesn’t re-
duce supply or drive up prices when we are talking about con-
centrated markets. 

This would apply, Mr. Chairman and colleagues, in the just over 
25 States where there are concentrated markets. Senator Craig 
and I represent such an area. I hardly ever disagree with my friend 
from Idaho on these kinds of things. I would just say in response 
to my colleague’s comments that the Federal Trade Commission 
has said in the past that there has been zone pricing and red-lin-
ing. They said they can’t do anything about it and that is why I 
think this legislation is needed, Mr. Chairman. 

What we have seen in the past is the Federal Trade Commission 
sets out a bar that is absolutely unachievable with respect to show-
ing that there are anticompetitive practices in the marketplace. 
The Federal Trade Commission has been arguing that they can 
only prosecute if they find out and out, blatant collusion, which 
savvy oil companies are not going to be involved in. They don’t 
have to do that. They are not going to go to a smoke-filled room; 
they are not going to show up at a steakhouse and decide, well, 
let’s set gasoline prices tonight. They are way too savvy for some-
thing like that. 

So that is why I would like to give the Federal Trade Commis-
sion these additional tools in S. 1737—the question of cease and de-
sist powers, and the authority in markets where there is concentra-
tion to shift the burden of proof, such as we find with the Bakers-
field refinery or red-lining and zone pricing. 
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In a case like Shell’s Bakersfield refinery, the Federal Trade 
Commission could issue under my legislation, Mr. Chairman, a 
cease and desist order to halt shutdown of the refinery. Because 
California is a highly concentrated market, Shell would be required 
to show that closure of the refinery would not have an anticompeti-
tive impact by reducing supply or increasing the price of gas. 

If Shell can show that it would be increasing its production at 
the company’s other West Coast refineries to make up for lost pro-
duction at Bakersfield, the closure under my legislation could still 
be allowed to go forward. But my legislation would protect the con-
sumer where an oil company was closing its refinery as part of a 
deliberate effort to reduce supply and to drive up prices. 

Suffice it to say, Mr. Chairman and colleagues, the problems that 
we are seeing we are going to have for some time to come. The En-
ergy Information Administration came to the Committee that Sen-
ator Craig and I serve on saying that there will be continued vul-
nerability of future gasoline price spikes. 

Mr. Chairman, I would wrap up by way of saying I don’t think 
there is a silver bullet here. I am supporting your bill because I 
think it is a significant step forward for the reasons that you have 
outlined, and particularly important today because the Saudi for-
eign minister said last week he wasn’t even contacted with respect 
to this most recent production cut. 

But I would only say that I think we need to complement your 
fine legislation with the kind of measure that I am advocating that 
will get the Federal Trade Commission off its hands. You ask this 
commission what single thing have they done to help the gasoline 
consumer. I can’t find one step that they have taken. By the way, 
it goes back a few years and we haven’t seen any action that they 
have taken to help the gasoline consumer. 

I don’t think that is acceptable. I want it understood, as you and 
I have in so many other instances, and I want to work with you 
in a bipartisan way. Senator Craig and I have talked about these 
issues a number of times over the years on the Senate Energy 
Committee, and I will look forward to working with you, colleagues, 
to try to deal with making sure the consumer gets a fair shake in 
the gas market. 

Chairman DEWINE. Senator Wyden, thank you very much for a 
very provocative statement. It certainly gives the Subcommittee a 
lot of things to think about, and we will use some of your state-
ments as questions when the next panel comes up. 

Thank you very much. 
Senator KOHL. Mr. Chairman? 
Chairman DEWINE. Senator Kohl. 
Senator KOHL. I would like to ask consent that Senator 

Feingold’s statement be placed in the record. 
Chairman DEWINE. Without objection. 
Let me invite our next panel to come up right now and I will 

begin to introduce the panel as they come up. 
Mr. William Kovacic is a recognized expert in both antitrust law 

and government contracts law, and has published extensively in 
both fields, most notably as coauthor of Antitrust Law and Econom-
ics in a Nutshell. He presently serves as general counsel at the 
Federal Trade Commission. 
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Mr. John Felmy is the chief economist at the American Petro-
leum Institute. He also serves as the Chairman of the Policy Com-
mittee of the Alliance for Energy and Economic Growth. 

Dr. Justine Hastings is an assistant professor in the Yale De-
partment of Economics. Her current research interests lie in 
vertical integration, competition and product differentiation, and 
she has written extensively on the petroleum industry. 

Professor George Bermann is professor of law at Columbia Uni-
versity, where he has taught since 1975. He is recognized as an ex-
pert on European Union law and has written many articles and 
several books. 

Dr. Mark Cooper is the Director of Research at the Consumer 
Federation of America, where he works on economic policy, among 
other issues. Dr. Cooper has testified before the Subcommittee in 
the past and we welcome him back. 

Let me just say to all of our witnesses we are going to have 5 
minutes. We have your written testimony and it will be made a 
part of the record. But we are going to limit you to 5 minutes, if 
you could just summarize, please, and then we will have the oppor-
tunity for questions. 

Mr. Kovacic, you can start, please. 

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM E. KOVACIC, GENERAL COUNSEL, 
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

Mr. KOVACIC. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the 
Subcommittee. I am pleased to appear before you today to discuss 
the FTC’s initiatives to promote competition in the supply of gaso-
line. My written statement presents the views of the Federal Trade 
Commission, and my spoken comments today are my views and not 
necessarily those of the commission or its members. 

The FTC’s energy program reflects the agency’s acute awareness 
of the vital role that competition policy in the petroleum industry 
plays in safeguarding consumer interests. Today, I will first de-
scribe the FTC’s competition program in petroleum, and then I will 
identify lessons that the agency’s work concerning gasoline prices 
has yielded. 

The FTC’s competition program in petroleum has four elements. 
The first is to challenge mergers that are likely to reduce competi-
tion and injure consumers. Since 1981, the commission has taken 
enforcement action against 15 major petroleum mergers. Four 
transactions were either abandoned or blocked as a result of com-
mission or court action. In the other 11 cases, the FTC required the 
parties to divest substantial assets in markets where competitive 
harm was likely to occur. 

From data the FTC recently released concerning enforcement 
programs from 1996 through 2003, it is evident that the FTC’s re-
medial requirements have been more demanding in petroleum mar-
kets than for any other area of commerce in which the commission 
is active. 

The second activity at the FTC is to detect and prosecute anti-
trust violations that do not involve mergers. For example, in March 
of 2003 the FTC issued an administrative complaint alleging that 
Unocal violated the FTC Act by deceiving the California Air Re-

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 10:57 Sep 16, 2004 Jkt 095551 PO 00000 Frm 00018 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\GPO\HEARINGS\95551.TXT SJUD4 PsN: CMORC



15

sources Board in connection with regulatory proceedings to develop 
standards for reformulated gasoline. 

Unocal, the commission alleges, misrepresented that certain 
technology was non-proprietary and in the public domain at the 
same time that Unocal was seeking patents that would enable it 
to charge substantial royalties if CARB mandated Unocal’s tech-
nology in the refining of summer reformulated gasoline. The com-
mission has charged here that Unocal’s conduct, unless enjoined, 
could cost California consumers hundreds of millions of dollars per 
year. 

The third activity is to monitor petroleum industry behavior to 
detect possible instances of anticompetitive conduct. Nearly 2 
years, the FTC launched an initiative to monitor gasoline prices to 
identify unusual movements in prices and examine whether appar-
ent anomalies might result from anticompetitive conduct. 

The FTC’s economists have developed a statistical model for 
identifying such price movements. They look at price movements in 
over 20 wholesale and over 350 retail markets across the country. 
If our staff detects unusual price movements in an area, it studies 
the possible causes, and follow-up efforts typically have involved 
extensive cooperation with State attorneys general, State energy of-
ficials, and the Department of Energy. 

If our staff concludes that the unusual price movement likely re-
sults from a natural cause—that is, a cause unrelated to anti-
competitive conduct—it investigates no further. Our experience to 
date indicates that unusual movements in gasoline prices typically 
have what we consider to be a natural cause. If there are competi-
tive problems, the monitoring project and our expanded cooperation 
with Federal and State agencies have put us in a better position 
to identify and address these problems than at any time in recent 
memory. 

In recent years, the commission has also conducted intensive 
non-merger investigations involving refining and distribution prac-
tices in the western and midwestern United States. I would like to 
acknowledge the role that Chairman DeWine and Senator Kohl 
have played in inspiring the agency to undertake the midwest gas-
oline pricing investigation, even though the two investigations I 
have mentioned uncovered no basis to find an antitrust violation. 

The last activity of the FTC is to collect data and perform re-
search to develop a better understanding of what affects gasoline 
prices and to improve our knowledge base about the consequences 
of our enforcement decisions. In 2001 and 2002, the commission 
held conferences on these topics and is currently updating a com-
prehensive report on merger enforcement in the petroleum sector 
since 1989. 

Let me finish by turning to the lessons that we derived from our 
program so far. First, the paramount factor affecting both the level 
and movement of gasoline prices in the United States indeed is the 
price of crude oil. Changes in crude oil prices account, as Senator 
Kohl’s introductory remarks and yours, Mr. Chairman, mentioned, 
for approximately 85 percent of the variability of gasoline prices. 

Second, crude oil and refined products inventories significantly 
affect gasoline prices at retail. At one of our conferences, the En-
ergy Information Administration reported that high crude oil prices 
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indeed not only affect gasoline prices directly, but indirectly as 
well, by reducing inventories. 

There are indeed tighter inventory situations, but what we 
found, in general, is that by adopting just-in-time techniques, on 
average, there is the possibility that gasoline prices over time are 
lower than they would be if just-in-time techniques were not used 
widely. 

Third, our conferences and investigations have highlighted the 
generally high levels of utilization in the refining and transpor-
tation segments of the industry—conditions that do make interrup-
tions attributable to fires and other breakdowns a possible cause 
of price spikes. 

Last, the interaction of environmental quality requirements and 
gasoline does supply a fourth important factor. There is no ques-
tion in this country that pollution control has yielded massive bene-
fits. At the same time, we have identified in our hearings and pro-
ceedings that such controls have added at times to the cost of refin-
ing crude oil, and thus to the price of gasoline. Finally, our re-
search and conferences indicate that other Federal and State laws 
sometimes tend to increase gasoline prices. 

Let me finish by saying that competition policy unquestionably 
helps assure that the petroleum industry is and remains competi-
tive. The commission has devoted substantial effort and resources 
to enforce the antitrust laws and to scrutinize behavior in this sec-
tor. We will continue to do so in the future. Higher prices for petro-
leum products deeply affect the quality of life in this country, and 
we are keenly aware of that. We will also seek to attack conduct 
that disturbs the proper functioning of the market where antitrust 
violations can be shown. 

I look forward to the opportunity to address your questions. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Kovacic appears as a submission 

for the record.] 
Chairman DEWINE. Thank you very much. 
Dr. Felmy. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN FELMY, CHIEF ECONOMIST AND DIREC-
TOR OF POLICY ANALYSIS AND STATISTICS, AMERICAN PE-
TROLEUM INSTITUTE 

Mr. FELMY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Sub-
committee. I am John Felmy, Chief Economist and Director of Pol-
icy Analysis and Statistics of the American Petroleum Institute. 
API is a national trade association representing more than 400 
companies engaged in all sectors of the U.S. oil and natural gas in-
dustry. API is pleased to have the opportunity to present a state-
ment on gasoline and natural gas, and urge Congress to enact na-
tional energy policy legislation. 

The recent spikes in gasoline prices are primarily due to fun-
damentals in the supply and demand for crude oil. Demand for 
crude oil has risen due to a cold winter and strengthening econo-
mies. Unrest in key supplying countries such as Venezuela and Ni-
geria, and lower Iraqi production have kept world supplies tight. 

OPEC continues to operate under production quotas and has re-
cently confirmed its intent to cut production by a million barrels 
per day, to 23.5 million barrels a day, potentially worsening the 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 10:57 Sep 16, 2004 Jkt 095551 PO 00000 Frm 00020 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\GPO\HEARINGS\95551.TXT SJUD4 PsN: CMORC



17

current situation. However, there is no guarantee member nations 
will reduce output sufficient to comply. 

The United States continues to import more than 60 percent of 
the crude oil and petroleum products used each day to provide 
Americans the products they need. While 20 percent of current im-
ports are from the Middle East, the U.S. Energy Information Ad-
ministration, EIA, expects that figure to climb substantially as the 
gap between U.S. oil production and consumption widens. 

In addition to higher crude prices, several other factors have af-
fected gasoline prices. We have experienced refinery problems; a 
Mississippi River accident that shut down traffic for several days; 
the difficulty of switching from winter to summer fuel in California; 
the introduction of new low-sulfur gasoline, Tier II; the bans of 
MTB in gasoline in New York, Connecticut and California; and 
sharply higher demand. 

I have attached two papers that elaborate on these points, and 
I have a chart here that shows the complex nature of the crude oil 
and gasoline markets. I don’t have time in my verbal statement to 
elaborate, but I will be happy to answer questions later. 

As a consequence of all these factors, gasoline prices have 
reached a record level, unadjusted for inflation, of over $1.76 per 
gallon, while, adjusted for inflation, the real price of gasoline has 
fallen over 40 percent from a peak of $2.77 in 1981. The real cost 
of crude oil and manufacturing, delivering and marketing gasoline 
has fallen over the past 20 years, while the real cost of Federal and 
State taxes has risen. 

Demand for gasoline continues to be strong as our economy 
grows. Gasoline production is running at record levels this year to 
date. However, inventories are low because of strong demand and 
lower imports. Imports play an important role even though 90 per-
cent of the gasoline we use is refined in this country. High tanker 
freight rates, low European inventories and increasingly more re-
strictive U.S. fuel specifications have contributed to the curtailing 
of gasoline imports. 

What then can be done about the situation? Some want to sus-
pend filling the Strategic Petroleum Reserve and releasing the 
150,000 barrels a day currently going into the reserve onto the 
marketplace. That would have negligible effect on supply because 
the amount made available is equivalent to only about two-tenths 
of 1 percent of world supply. 

The SPR was established as a back-up in the event of a real sup-
ply emergency shortfall, not a non-market mechanism aimed at in-
fluencing prices. Turning to the reserve when prices go up sends 
precisely the wrong message to the marketplace at exactly the 
wrong time. Unintended consequences may include foreign nations 
curtailing production. 

Let me also briefly discuss the situation in natural gas markets. 
Like gasoline, natural gas has increased substantially in price over 
the past 2 years. We have seen three price spikes in 3 years, and 
prices remain high due to high demand and low supply growth. 
Weather, economic growth and continued increases in demand for 
gas by electricity generators have kept prices over $5 per million 
Btus. The industry has responded to the higher prices by operating 
more drilling rigs searching for natural gas. We have also contin-
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ued our efforts to obtain access to lands that are currently off lim-
its to exploration for natural gas. 

API has argued for several years that we need a national energy 
policy that increases supplies, streamlines regulation, fosters en-
ergy efficiency and growth in renewables, and allows for increased 
infrastructure to get supplies to consumers. The Senate was only 
two votes short of passing an energy bill that contains provisions 
that would have helped consumers. A comprehensive energy bill 
needs to be passed and sent to the President for his signature. Fail-
ure to pass meaningful energy legislation will increase the risk 
that we will stay on the energy price treadmill. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am prepared to answer some ques-
tions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Felmy appears as a submission 
for the record.] 

Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Felmy, thank you very much. 
Dr. Hastings. 

STATEMENT OF JUSTINE S. HASTINGS, ASSISTANT 
PROFESSOR OF ECONOMICS, YALE UNIVERSITY 

Ms. HASTINGS. Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, my 
name is Justine Hastings. I am an Assistant Professor of Econom-
ics at Yale University and a faculty research fellow at the National 
Bureau of Economic Research Program on Industrial Organization. 
I hold a Ph.D. in economics from the University of California at 
Berkeley and I have previously testified at the United States Sen-
ate Governmental Affairs Committee, Permanent Subcommittee on 
Investigations, hearings into Gasoline Prices: How Are They Set? 

The focus of my research over the past few years has been pri-
marily on firm conduct, competition and consumer behavior, and 
much of my work has been applied to the gasoline industry. 
Through my research projects, I have analyzed extensive data on 
retail market structure, wholesale market structure and retail and 
wholesale gasoline prices for a diverse group of metropolitan areas 
for a time covering about the past decade. 

I have used this data to examine, among other things, vertical 
and horizontal market structure, vertical meaning relationships be-
tween upstream firms or producing firms, such as refiners, and re-
tail firms, such as gasoline stations, and horizontal market struc-
ture, meaning kind of the structure of the market within either re-
tail or at the refinery level, and the effects of these types of market 
structures on prices and competition through firm incentives. 

I have also examined the effects of consumer demand and con-
sumer behavior and preferences on gasoline competition, and I am 
currently completing a study funded through the National Science 
Foundation on the determinants of wholesale price discrimination, 
which you may have heard referred to as zone pricing, and what 
are the effects of this pricing policy on gasoline retail prices and 
wholesale prices. 

I am also currently working on a project with colleagues at Yale 
and at the University of California at Berkeley examining the ef-
fects of environmental regulations that we are discussing today on 
market structure, arbitrage rates between markets, and gasoline 
price levels and volatility. 
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Through my research, I have gained substantial knowledge about 
the gasoline industry, and my independent academic research and 
acquired knowledge will form the basis of my comments and an-
swers before this Subcommittee today. I would like to make a few 
quick points or broad points and then I would be happy to answer 
questions related to them during the questioning session. 

First, crude oil prices explain a substantial amount of retail gaso-
line prices in most parts of the country. We have heard a figure 
of .85, 85 percent, a couple times so far today, and I put a quick 
table in my written statement that shows that if you went even 
State by State, with very limited data that I just had someone pull 
off the Web for me, that varies actually by State from 69 percent 
to 91 percent. So the question is, yes, it is a big fraction, but what 
is making the difference between 69 percent in some States and 91 
percent in other States? Market structure, both vertical and hori-
zontal, and environmental regulations are also going to be contrib-
uting to gasoline price levels, that 69-percent to 81-percent dif-
ference. 

My second point is that in markets where supply is very tight, 
inelastic demand for gasoline is going to lead to large price changes 
in response to small supply disruptions. In very tight markets, 
every firm actually may have market power to unilaterally increase 
market price. It is not anticompetitive. It is a factor of inelastic de-
mand and a tight supply. 

Increasing the number of refineries in key markets may ease this 
tightness. And it is something we may not want to discuss, given 
environmental regulations and concerns, but it is something we are 
going to have to bring to the table. If new refineries are also new 
competitors in the market and, in addition, if they are relatively 
unintegrated, have a smaller downstream component, they may act 
to increase competition even further after entry. 

My third point touches on environmental policy. Environmental 
policy needs to be designed to incorporate the secondary effects of 
market structure, not just the effects on pollution. Smart environ-
mental policy looks at market structure when looking at how to 
achieve an ultimate goal of pollution standards. 

Fourth, governmental regulations such as minimum mark-up 
laws, divorcement legislation, fair wholesale pricing or, as you have 
heard it referred to today, zone price elimination, and government-
owned refineries or strategic gasoline reserves in most cases will 
actually make consumers worse off. I will be happy to address each 
of these issues during the questioning session. 

Finally, any policy that comes out of this or any other legislation 
session must really be founded in credible and sound statistical 
analysis, guided by economic principles, in order to ensure that the 
welfare of American consumers and taxpayers is maximized 
through efficient and competitive markets. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Ms. Hastings appears as a submis-

sion for the record.] 
Chairman DEWINE. Mr. Bermann. 
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STATEMENT OF GEORGE A. BERMANN, WALTER GELHORN 
PROFESSOR OF LAW AND JEAN MONNET PROFESSOR OF EU-
ROPEAN UNION LAW, COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF 
LAW 
Mr. BERMANN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and the other members 

of the Subcommittee. In the few minutes that I do have, I would 
like to address three questions very briefly and they have to do 
with the three dimensions that I see in the bill that is before me 
and before yourselves, and those three dimensions are the sub-
stance of the Sherman Act, the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act 
as the source of sovereign immunity defense that OPEC countries 
might assert, and last, and most complicated, the act of state doc-
trine, to which reference has been made. Because I want to discuss 
three subjects and I have 5 minutes, the math suggests that I need 
to move quickly. 

With respect to the Sherman Act, the bill before me and before 
yourselves seem to me to make it very plain, and perhaps desirably 
so, that foreign states are indeed subject to the Sherman Act. I say 
that because at least one district court has expressed the view that 
foreign states are not subjects of the Sherman Act. The bill makes 
that clear. 

Secondly, the court of appeals in that same case expressed doubt 
that international cartels constituted violations of the Sherman 
Act, saying that there was an insufficient consensus to that effect, 
and I think the bill would address that problem, as well, arising 
under the Sherman Act. 

With respect to the Sherman Act, I have simply one question 
that I would raise and one doubt I entertain, and that is why the 
absence of the Clayton Act from the legislation. In the two pieces 
of litigation that have been brought, both the Sherman Act and the 
Clayton Act have been evoked, the latter primarily because it gives 
rise to claims for injunctive relief. 

Turning to the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act, there was, and 
there is to this day debate over whether the activity of the OPEC 
countries and OPEC itself, were it a proper defendant, constituted 
a commercial activity. As you well know, the Federal courts are di-
vided as to whether they do or do not constitute commercial rather 
than governmental activity. 

The creation of a new, independent exception to the principle of 
sovereign immunity in the FSIA which this bill would also do 
would obviate the necessity of characterizing price collusion, output 
collusion, as commercial or governmental by creating an inde-
pendent, self-standing statutory exception. 

A final word of cautionary note with respect to the Foreign Sov-
ereign Immunities Act, and indeed with respect to the Sherman 
Act, is the bill requires direct, substantial and reasonably foresee-
able effect on U.S. markets. And there is at least one Federal court 
that has found that the OPEC activity was not proximately caus-
ally related to the price effects reported in the U.S. market. I think 
that difficulty that one might encounter is endemic to any statute 
that contains the formula of direct, substantial and reasonably 
foreseeable effect on U.S. markets. 

The act of state doctrine is my last subject. On this, I need to 
be a little more complex, but there are some clear lines to be 
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drawn. The act of state doctrine was the reason why in the one suit 
that has been brought to the level of the court of appeals that that 
suit could not proceed. The act of state doctrine was characterized 
as preventing that cause of action from being pursued. 

There is no question in my mind, as my written testimony indi-
cates, that Congress has the authority to override the act of state 
doctrine to whatever extent it wishes to do so. Congress has done 
so in the past in a small number of very isolated instances, but 
there is no doubt in my mind, under international and constitu-
tional law alike, that Congress has the authority to do so, even 
though you will hear and you will read that the act of state doc-
trine has constitutional underpinnings, and I quote the United 
States Supreme Court. 

Those constitutional underpinnings are separation of powers 
scruples, and it seems to me quite clear that Congress has the 
right to tell the courts that the courts do not need to defer to Con-
gress. That does not strike me as a disturbance of the separation 
of powers. 

Finally, mention should be made of the possibility that other doc-
trines besides the act of state doctrine might get in the way of suc-
cessful prosecution of a claim under the amended legislation. The 
political question doctrine, general principles of international com-
ity, the forum non conveniens doctrine and foreign government 
compulsion strike me as the four most likely candidates, for rea-
sons I don’t have time to go into because I see a red light. I would 
simply say that I think none of those is a serious problem, and I 
would be glad to answer questions to that effect. 

I would simply add that I believe, however, that we should pay 
some attention to the fact that the Supreme Court, to the extent 
that it has spoken, has suggested that the Sherman Act itself in 
its own content incorporates considerations of international comity, 
and that those considerations might lead a court to decline to en-
force the Sherman Act in certain international scenarios. 

Thank you. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Bermann appears as a submis-

sion for the record.] 
Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Cooper. 

STATEMENT OF MARK COOPER, DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH, 
CONSUMER FEDERATION OF AMERICA, ON BEHALF OF CON-
SUMER FEDERATION OF AMERICA AND CONSUMERS UNION 

Mr. COOPER. Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, the 
headlines in the energy news that are never written are about the 
domestic petroleum industry. They include the fact that domestic 
gasoline refining and marketing operations have increased pump 
prices by about $50 billion in the past 4 years, and domestic nat-
ural gas well head prices have increased by over $80 billion, sepa-
rate and apart from anything that OPEC has done. 

The bottom line that is overlooked is an increase in the after-tax 
profits of domestic petroleum companies of well over $50 billion in 
the same 4 years. The story behind those headlines that doesn’t get 
coverage is how a merger wave in the mid–1990’s dramatically in-
creased the concentration of the petroleum industry and enabled it 
to make business decisions that restricted capacity, eliminated 
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competition from independents and rendered many markets un-
competitive and vulnerable to manipulation. 

When markets are tight, there are not a lot of suppliers around 
and prices get sticky. Individual companies can put them up quick-
ly and don’t feel pressures to lower them. This is especially true 
for energy products because large investments in physical facilities 
are necessary to deliver product, and that means that the flow 
can’t be increased in the short term. 

On the demand side, these are necessities consumers can’t cut 
back. So market power is augmented when supply and demand 
elasticities are low. It takes less of a market share to gain power 
over price, but the antitrust authorities don’t adjust their thinking. 

Storage and economic stockpiles are critical here, but the indus-
try has done a miserable job of ensuring that enough product is 
available to meet demand without dramatic increases in price. 
Just-in-time in the oil industry means never there when you really 
need it. Every accident or blip in the market becomes an excuse to 
trigger a price increase, and people wring their hands, oh, we 
didn’t have supplies, we didn’t have storage. Who chose not to have 
storage? Business decisions. 

Moreover, by failing to expand capacity, they are operating their 
facilities at very high rates of utilization, which makes accidents 
more likely to happen. If there were more competition, if there 
were the threat of losing your customers when the shelves go bear, 
they would have more facilities and they would keep more in stor-
age and we would not have these wild price swings. 

Three years ago, we outlined a comprehensive policy to imple-
ment permanent institutional changes that would reduce the 
chances that markets will be tight and reduce the exposure of con-
sumers to the opportunistic exploitation of markets when they do 
become tight. Those recommendations made sense then; they make 
even more sense today. 

We would all want a quick fix, immediate relaxation of prices, 
but what consumers need is the end of the roller coaster and the 
ratchet of constant volatility with ever-mounting prices. We would 
love to break the pricing power of OPEC, which would relieve a 
great deal of the pricing problem, but the short-term prospects are 
not promising there either. 

There, too, we need long-term solutions that address fundamen-
tals. We must restore reserve margins by increasing energy effi-
ciency that takes demand out of the world market, but also reduces 
demand in tight domestic markets, which also suffer from the 
abuse of market power. 

In the 1990’s, we built two fleets of gas-guzzlers—SUVs on the 
roads and natural gas-fired power plants, particularly that fire up 
in the summer to run our air conditioners. They have kept domes-
tic markets tight. Efficiency can produce a tremendous saving that 
has the double impact of relaxing the tightness of both inter-
national and domestic markets. 

We must increase the flexibility of downstream capacity in the 
gasoline industry. We closed those refineries—that is, the oil indus-
try closed those refineries after mergers as a function of their busi-
ness decisions to consciously tighten markets and increase profits. 
We are suffering from that today. We have to have policies that 
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promote economically-and socially-responsible storage. There is no 
excuse for repeatedly being short. Those are business decisions. 
Public policy can influence those business decisions. 

The pending energy legislation does not substantially advance 
the four key elements of a national energy policy. We must expand 
domestic refining capacity by studying who closed what, why, and 
where are the sites that we could redevelop, instead of simply com-
plaining about unidentified environmental obstacles. Those refin-
eries were there; they can be reopened. We need a more competi-
tive domestic sector. We need rules that dictate when you have to 
have storage and how you should use it. We have to take the fun 
and profit out of market manipulation. 

It may very well be that none of the behaviors I have mentioned 
violate the antitrust laws. That doesn’t make them right. It simply 
tells us that we need a new set of laws that get at this behavior 
which is actually imposing immense pain on the American con-
sumer and our economy. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Cooper appears as a submission 

for the record.] 
Chairman DEWINE. Senator Specter. 
Senator SPECTER. Mr. Kovacic, has the FTC ever considered anti-

trust action against OPEC? 
Mr. KOVACIC. I don’t know, Senator. I know the commission has 

certainly for a period going back over decades had an active hand 
in studying crude oil markets. Indeed, in the— 

Senator SPECTER. I am interested in OPEC. If you don’t know, 
you don’t know. I would suggest the FTC ought to consider that, 
and I would also suggest that the FTC ought to send somebody 
today who could give us an FTC policy about OPEC. That is the 
central thrust of the hearing and that is the statute which we are 
looking at. 

Professor Bermann, isn’t there at least a prime facie case to get 
to a jury on OPEC being in violation of the antitrust laws on con-
spiring to restrain trade when they are working with other coun-
tries to limit production and in a context where there is a rising 
cost of gasoline? 

Where you have a couple of doctrines on sovereign immunity and 
that turns on whether it is a commercial activity or a governmental 
activity, it seems to me that it is clearly a commercial activity 
when they are selling oil to us. And you have the act of state doc-
trine where the courts have said there is flexibility and it depends 
upon the evolution of international legal principles. A great deal 
has happened in the intervening time since the International Asso-
ciation of Machinists case was decided. 

Just to cut through it, without taking them up one by one, 
couldn’t an aggressive prosecutor make a case that would get to the 
jury or the fact-finder if it is a bench trial? 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, certainly, as to the merits—that is to say 
you asked whether the activity in question would represent anti-
competitive behavior within the meaning of the Sherman Act. I 
think the answer is most certainly yes, and one court has so held 
in an action brought in the year 2001 that hasn’t yet been men-
tioned against OPEC. 
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Senator SPECTER. The one in Alabama? 
Mr. BERMANN. Yes, the suit in Alabama that actually rendered 

a judgment adverse to OPEC and issued an injunction to OPEC, 
but which was vacated, and which vacatur was sustained on appeal 
on the ground of inadequate service of OPEC in Vienna, Austria, 
on technical grounds. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, I am glad you brought that case up be-
cause at least there is a Federal court determination that there 
was a violation of the U.S. antitrust laws. The judgment was va-
cated because OPEC didn’t defend. They were disdainful of coming 
into the Federal court, and they later raised technical objections 
and came in after a judgment had been entered against them. But 
at least that is authority for the proposition that U.S. antitrust 
laws were violated by OPEC. 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, the district court actually found that the 
violation was per se. The district court actually found it was a per 
se violation of the antitrust laws. 

Senator SPECTER. I know what per se means, but somebody who 
may be watching on C–SPAN may not. 

Mr. BERMANN. A per se violation is an act that in itself, without 
more, constitutes a violation. 

Senator SPECTER. That means it is a pretty clear-cut situation? 
Mr. BERMANN. A clear-cut case of a violation. It was vacated only 

on grounds that service was technically inadequate, and it was 
technically inadequate because OPEC refused to accept service of 
process in Vienna, Austria, where it was located. 

Senator SPECTER. Certainly, they had notice. They knew they 
were being sued. That wasn’t any surprise to them, but we all un-
derstand that service and jurisdiction are matters to be decided 
under technical rules. 

Mr. BERMANN. They conceded notice. 
Senator SPECTER. They conceded notice? 
Mr. BERMANN. OPEC conceded notice, yes. 
Senator SPECTER. Well, we have got too much to discuss to get 

into the issue as to whether the court inappropriately dismissed 
the case on technical grounds. 

When you talk about causation, that is a fact question. Where 
you have OPEC limiting production by 2.5 million barrels, and 
doing so at a time when gasoline prices are rising, that would de-
pend upon the skill of the prosecutor in putting on the evidence as 
to whether the evidence was sufficient to establish a causal connec-
tion. 

Mr. BERMANN. You are entirely right about that. It is a matter 
of a combination of basic factual showing and a skillful and con-
vincing characterization of the facts. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, I am a little at a loss to know why our 
law enforcement agencies have not pursued the matter. It is a mat-
ter of great concern to the American people. It is a matter of enor-
mous financial cost on gasoline going up—we have already seen all 
the fancy charts and heard the statistics—and heating oil going up. 

In your judgment, an action could be maintained under existing 
law which would get to the fact-finder or get to a jury? 

Mr. BERMANN. It could be maintained under existing law. My re-
marks about the bill were oriented toward the fact that the bill re-
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moved doubts. Any doubts about the principal matters are subject 
to one or two lingering doubts that I alluded to. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, I am glad you took up the bill because 
I think it is a good bill. I have already complimented Senator 
DeWine on it for initiating it. The legislation is good, so that we 
don’t have to get into the intricacies as to whether you have a com-
mercial activity or a governmental activity, or the flexibility of the 
act of state doctrine. So I think we ought to pass it. 

Mr. BERMANN. You are right in those respects. 
Senator SPECTER. It is pretty hard to pass something in Congress 

these days. So my hope would be that the FTC would take a look 
at this matter, or that the Justice Department would take a look 
at it. 

Mr. Kovacic, the FTC ordinarily exercises jurisdiction on gasoline 
matters, but there is nothing to stop the Department of Justice 
from initiating an antitrust violation, is there? 

Mr. KOVACIC. There would not be. Any matter involving a crimi-
nal allegation would be handled by the Department of Justice, and 
we do have a process between us by which, if the Justice Depart-
ment said they had better capability to pursue a matter, they 
could. 

Senator SPECTER. Professor Bermann, there could also be a pri-
vate action under the antitrust laws for treble damages, could 
there not? 

Mr. BERMANN. That is correct, and both lawsuits to which ref-
erence has been made—the one from 1979, on appeal in 1981, and 
2001, on appeal in 2003—were private lawsuits seeking damages 
and/or injunctive relief. 

Senator SPECTER. Do you have any idea why some aggressive pri-
vate lawyer—there are lots of antitrust suits brought as private 
prosecutors—why such an action has not been initiated? 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, those two were initiated. 
Senator SPECTER. Beyond that, something more recently. 
Mr. BERMANN. Why there haven’t been more? Well, I think the 

act of state doctrine and the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act 
have operated as some sort of brakes on that process. I didn’t men-
tion this in my oral testimony, nor, in fact, in my written testi-
mony, but I think that, as I read the bill—and I sought clarification 
on this question—the Federal Trade Commission and the Attorney 
General would have exclusive authority to enforce these provisions. 

Now, I stand to be corrected in my understanding of the bill, but 
I understand the bill to so state. That would seem to me, while it 
would prevent any future private parties from bringing antitrust 
suits against the OPEC countries, it would go a very long way to 
defeating any arguments that might be based on the act of state 
doctrine, because after all the act of state doctrine is intended to 
protect the political prerogatives of the legislative and executive 
branches. And if those actions are authorized by Congress and de-
cided upon to be brought by the Federal Trade Commission or the 
Department of Justice, then there is no reason left for anybody to 
even think about the act of state doctrine. 

Senator SPECTER. Professor Bermann, do you think that the pro-
vision as to enforcement being with the Attorney General or the 
Federal Trade Commission would raise any question as to the right 
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of a private litigant under the treble damage provisions to initiate 
a private lawsuit? 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, I think it would raise that question because 
I believe that the bill is ambiguous on that point and it is more 
than arguable that a recital that enforcement shall be—the exact 
language is ‘‘The Attorney General of the United States and the 
Federal Trade Commission may bring an action to enforce this sec-
tion.’’ 

That is ambiguous as to whether that is exclusive or not exclu-
sive of the existing rights of private parties to do so, and I would 
recommend that any such legislation clarify that point. The con-
sequences of clarifying that one way or another are quite signifi-
cant. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, I think we ought to make that modifica-
tion. My judgment would be that there could be private enforce-
ment. When you say ‘‘may,’’ I think that leaves the leeway, but 
there is no reason to have any doubt about it. 

Taking up the issue of a legal action under existing law, is there 
any real basis, where you have the sovereign immunity question 
which turns on whether it is commercial activity or governmental 
activity, to conclude that this is a clear-cut commercial activity? 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, courts have differed over that, and one rea-
son they differ over that is because sometimes the judgment as to 
whether an activity is commercial is based upon the nature of the 
activity and sometimes it is based upon the purposes or policies un-
derlying the activity. 

Senator SPECTER. Where it is to make money, is there any 
doubt? 

Mr. BERMANN. No doubt, no doubt. But where natural resources 
are involved, a good many courts, including in cases outside this 
sector altogether, have held that the management of a country’s 
natural resources—even if dealt with in ways that are commer-
cially familiar to us, the very fact that they are natural resources 
renders it governmental. 

The courts have a bit of a problem with characterizing foreign 
countries’ control of their natural resources as purely commercial. 
Some have and some have not. The virtue of this bill is that it 
would make it no longer necessary for the exception to sovereign 
immunity to depend upon whether we accentuate or don’t accen-
tuate the natural resources character of oil and petroleum. 

Senator SPECTER. Okay, that is fine. I think we ought to get the 
bill, but in the interim I would like to see the Justice Department 
do something about it. I think your opinion is a solid that there is 
a basis to pursue, notwithstanding the sovereign immunity doc-
trine, on the ground that this is really a commercial activity. 

May the record show that there was a nod in the affirmative. 
Mr. BERMANN. Yes, sir. 
Senator SPECTER. On the act of state doctrine, the International 

Association of Machinists case talked about the flexibility of it and 
on the availability of internationally-accepted legal principles. 
Since the Ninth Circuit opinion in 1981, there has been in the 
1990’s a significant increase in efforts to seek compliance with 
basic international norms through international courts and tribu-
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nals, and an emerging consensus in international law that price-
fixing by cartels violates such international norms. 

Would you agree with that? 
Mr. BERMANN. Yes, I would. 
Senator SPECTER. Well, then I think the stage has been set for 

an aggressive prosecution here, Professor Bermann. I appreciate 
your background and your insights and your research. I think an 
aggressive prosecution would be well received. 

The worst that could happen, Mr. Kovacic, would be to lose, and 
that is not such a dire consequence when the stakes are as impor-
tant as they are. 

Mr. BERMANN. Mr. Senator, if I may, in the case that began in 
Alabama and went up to the Eleventh Circuit, the act of state doc-
trine was found to be inapplicable to the action against OPEC. It 
was found to be inapplicable because OPEC’s activity was commer-
cial, and, secondly, because OPEC’s activity was taking place in Vi-
enna, Austria, which is not on the territory of the states in ques-
tion. 

So the most recent decision that we have been referring to is a 
decision that addressed the act of state doctrine and found it to be 
inapplicable to these circumstances. That is a decision of 2001 and 
not in any respect weakened in the appellate ruling of 2003. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, that is an important observation to show 
that some of these legal hurdles have already been overcome and 
that there is precedent. 

Senator DeWine and I used to be prosecuting attorneys, and a 
prosecuting attorney ought not to take a case that doesn’t have a 
sound policy and that he doesn’t have sufficient evidence to get to 
a jury. But when you weigh the importance of the matter, as I 
would weigh the importance of going after OPEC in their collusive 
practices and the consequences at least sequentially of rising gaso-
line and rising oil prices in the United States, we are dealing with 
very substantial financial matters for the American consumer. 

Dr. Cooper, would you like to see a test case brought rep-
resenting consumers? 

Mr. COOPER. We are big fans of test cases. Frankly, clearly, one 
of our problems is that, in my opinion, OPEC has fought an eco-
nomic war against the American consumer and we have not re-
sponded at that level. 

Senator SPECTER. That is not the only war they have fought 
against us. 

Mr. COOPER. I understand, but the point is that we definitely 
think that we support this legislation to remove any doubts. There 
is absolutely no reason why we can’t defend ourselves from this 
sort of attack. 

Senator SPECTER. Mr. Kovacic, would you think it appropriate for 
the FTC to consider an enforcement action against OPEC under 
the antitrust laws? 

Mr. KOVACIC. Senator, I don’t have instructions from the commis-
sion to address this, so I answer in my own capacity. 

Senator SPECTER. Sure. 
Mr. KOVACIC. I see this as involving a number of extremely com-

plicated issues. I agree completely with the suggestion that the be-
havior would be unmistakably illegal. By any of our standards, if 
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these were private enterprises, our Department of Justice would 
highly likely prosecute them criminally and seek to imprison the 
individuals involved. So the culpability of the behavior under our 
legal standards is unmistakable. 

If I could mention for a moment the things that might make us 
hesitate, one is that obtaining discovery in such a matter might be 
relatively difficult. Enforcing a judgment might be relatively dif-
ficult. 

Senator SPECTER. Offending the sovereign, you say? 
Mr. KOVACIC. Obtaining discovery and enforcing a judgment 

would be complex. If I think of the practical steps that would be 
taken, these would likely be fairly elaborate and long-running as 
we dealt with those issues. 

Senator SPECTER. If you can’t get discovery, if they don’t submit 
to discovery, you get a default judgment. If you go after assets, 
OPEC has plenty of assets within the long arm of U.S. law. 

Mr. KOVACIC. If I could offer another possibility, in the inter-
national work we do a number of countries raise objections to poli-
cies that the United States follows which they allege to be matters 
of cartelization. I wonder if they would pass their own accord col-
lateral legislation to bring their laws to bear upon our own policies, 
and I think of the matter of agricultural commodities as being one. 

Senator SPECTER. Supply for the record—I don’t want to go on 
too much longer—where the United States might be exposed. 

Dr. Felmy, do you think an aggressive prosecution here might be 
warranted? 

Mr. FELMY. Senator, I am not an attorney. I am not qualified to 
make a statement on that particular issue. 

Senator SPECTER. Well, because you are not an attorney may 
make you well qualified, Dr. Felmy. 

Senator SPECTER. Dr. Hastings, you are a Ph.D. That certainly 
gives you qualifications. 

Ms. HASTINGS. Yes, but in economics, unfortunately, not in law. 
So I joint have a joint J.D.–Ph.D. I am an economist and I examine 
industrial organization, so market structure and firm behavior. So 
I am really not able to speak to the extent to which we could suc-
cessfully litigate antitrust laws against OPEC. 

Senator SPECTER. Okay, thank you. This transcript ought to be 
sent over to both the commission and the Attorney General, at 
least with my thinking, and I will discuss it with my colleagues be-
yond. Both Senator DeWine and I, as a I said before, were prosecu-
tors, and I initiated many actions which were original actions, sued 
under the nuisance laws people who were spraying asbestos and 
closed down commercial buildings; prosecuted for first-degree mur-
der a defendant who did not touch the victim, made new law on 
first-degree murder without contact. The law is an evolving body 
which responds to aggressive prosecutions when you have a good 
factual basis and you have a policy to be enforced. 

Senator DeWine, thank you very much for convening the hearing 
and thank you very much for the latitude on my questioning. 

Chairman DEWINE. Well, Senator Specter, thank you very much. 
I think you all can see why we brought my senior partner here to 
prosecute the case for the DeWine–Kohl bill here today. 

Thank you, Senator, very much. 
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Senator SPECTER. Thank you. 
Chairman DEWINE. I will reserve my questions. 
Senator Schumer. 
Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank 

the witnesses. I apologize for missing a few of you. We had a Bank-
ing hearing at the same time. 

First, I want to ask a little bit about natural gas to Kovacic and 
the others. We had a dramatic price spike in natural gas last year. 
This last winter, it was much higher than it had been before. Yet, 
if you looked at supply and demand, it wasn’t terribly different. In 
fact, it was a little less stringent this past winter than it was in 
the previous winter. 

Has the FTC investigated last winter’s price spikes? If so, what 
is the status of the investigation? If not, since you can’t speak for 
the commission, what are your thoughts? Gas just went through 
the roof. Obviously, it is a different type of market than oil, with 
pipelines and everything else. Tell me what you think. 

Mr. KOVACIC. Senator, our work to date has basically been fo-
cused on looking at mergers involving natural gas companies, 
seven in the past two-and-a-half years. In the course of those inves-
tigations, we have had some occasion to look at behavioral issues 
in the industry. But to my knowledge, we don’t have a current in-
vestigation simply looking at conduct, but I would be happy to 
check that and to report to you. 

Senator SCHUMER. Would it be within the purview of the FTC? 
Mr. KOVACIC. Yes, it would, sir. 
Senator SCHUMER. And would it be in the purview to see if the 

mergers that have occurred have helped contribute—one of my 
premises is we have had less and less competition in the energy in-
dustry, and that has in part increased the price, whether it be 
overseas with Senator DeWine’s bill, with OPEC, or domestically 
with the mergers that we have seen throughout the 1990’s, by the 
way many of them under Democratic administrations. This is hard-
ly a partisan-type issue. 

Mr. KOVACIC. We have several projects underway to look at the 
consequences of past petroleum mergers. Again, speaking for my-
self, I think it is a wise policy for the commission to expand its ef-
forts to assess the effects both of past decisions to prosecute and 
not to prosecute. In one area not involving petroleum or natural 
gas, the commission has begun to do this in health care. 

Without being able to predict how the agency will act in the fu-
ture, I see a growing interest in looking in the rear view mirror to 
see the actual consequences of what we have done. So my view is 
that is wise policy. 

Senator SCHUMER. Good. That would be very helpful. I hope you 
will do it. Tell the commissioners about that. 

Mr. KOVACIC. I will, sir. 
Senator SCHUMER. Dr. Hastings, as the economist with only a 

Ph.D. and not a J.D. who has maybe studied these markets a little 
bit— 

Ms. HASTINGS. I am not an expert in natural gas markets. I am 
an expert in gasoline markets, and they are very different. 

Senator SCHUMER. But just using your knowledge as an econo-
mist, given the fact that we have pipelines from gas fields con-
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nected and they are generally monopolies—that is, you can’t go to 
two different natural gas producers and the natural gas companies 
have a limit in terms of who they can get the gas from. I have 
asked lots of people and no one has come up with a good expla-
nation as to why natural gas spiked so in price last year, this past 
winter. 

Ms. HASTINGS. I am not an expert to speak to that. 
Senator SCHUMER. Do you, Dr. Cooper, have anything to say 

about it? 
Mr. COOPER. Well, in my testimony we look at natural gas and 

we observe that over the past four or 5 years, natural gas has risen 
much more rapidly than crude oil. 

Senator SCHUMER. Correct. 
Mr. COOPER. The domestic market has changed in the last 5 

years to close that gap. What changed was the majors, the same 
folks who are concentrating the refinery industry, moved into the 
natural gas market in a big way. They invest differently, they be-
have differently, they manage their assets differently. So the same 
attitudinal factors that look at the way they maximize their profit 
as opposed to compete for market share afflict the natural gas mar-
ket, in my opinion, as they do the domestic gasoline market. 

The other point is that the natural gas price is now set in the 
spot markets, the hubs. Well, it turns out that most of those hubs 
didn’t even exist 10 years ago and we are now discovering that all 
of them have been afflicted by manipulation. Almost daily, you 
read press accounts from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commis-
sion discovering that people were mis-reporting gas, et cetera. So 
these are very thin markets. 

There is a court case going forward. Just a couple of weeks ago, 
I believe a Federal district court judge allowed the case to go for-
ward and he pointed out that on any given day in 2001, Enron ac-
counted for 40 percent of the gas being transacted at the Henry 
hub. Now, the Henry hub is the key referent price. The Depart-
ment of Energy has discovered that that is setting the price of nat-
ural gas, and it is tracking crude much more closely than it used 
to do. 

Enron controlled 40 percent of the transactions in that market. 
When Enron went away, for clearly very, very nasty reasons, these 
markets got to be very thin and they have been laboring along. 
They are not transparent, and the Federal Energy Regulatory Com-
mission is struggling to figure out how to get real clear price sig-
nals out of the gas market and still doesn’t have a program. 

Again, the fundamentals in this industry are exactly like the gas-
oline industry—inelasticity of supply in the short term, inelasticity 
of demand in the short term. So last spring, with a natural gas cri-
sis, the prices popped up and everyone was wringing their hands 
about how storage wasn’t adequate again. How did that happen? 
It is a business decision. 

When the stocks finally moved up over the course of the summer, 
by the end of the winter people pointed out there was more in stor-
age than there was in the previous 2 years and the price is still 
too high. So this is market that is not setting prices in a competi-
tive, pro-consumer manner. 
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Senator SCHUMER. So you would recommend the FTC do what 
Mr. Kovacic said maybe they should do? 

Mr. COOPER. But they have to begin to look at these markets 
given what we know about the inelasticity of supply and demand. 
If we just do routine antitrust analysis, as Senator DeWine, if you 
look at their market shares, they don’t look very concentrated, al-
though certainly some of the gasoline markets have gotten very 
concentrated. 

But knowing the economic fundamentals, knowing about how in-
elastic are supply and demand, that magnifies market power. And 
maybe we can’t do that under the antitrust laws. Maybe we need 
different laws that are on different premises, but that is a funda-
mental problem. 

Senator SCHUMER. Like I mentioned before, my great concern is 
this sort of triangle I mentioned—OPEC, a small number of large 
oil companies and administration friendliness to that. 

In your testimony, Dr. Cooper—and I am going to ask Mr. 
Kovacic and Dr. Felmy this—you made a point that when OPEC 
raises its international price, American oil companies greatly profit 
even more from their domestic production, where their cost of pro-
duction stays the same or is on the same curve as it was before. 
But because the international price has gone way up, they make 
much more in profit. Certainly, the profits of the oil companies 
seem to be quite in sync with the increase in price, not exactly, but 
pretty close. 

Just give me a yes or no on that. Is that true, Dr. Cooper? 
Mr. COOPER. There is price-following behavior in both the domes-

tic oil market and the natural gas market. The interesting thing 
is that one of the reasons the large industrial gas users in this 
country are screaming is because in the rest of the world gas is not 
exhibiting that price-following behavior. They are losing their jobs 
to other markets where the price of natural gas doesn’t run up 
every time the price of crude runs up. Now, we can have a debate 
about why those foreign markets behave differently. 

Senator SCHUMER. It means it is not inexorable. That is what it 
means. 

Mr. COOPER. That is right. It is not inexorable. 
Senator SCHUMER. The big oil companies sort of like it when 

OPEC raises prices because then the world price goes up and their 
domestic production is more profitable. 

Do you agree with that, Mr. Kovacic? Again, you can speak for 
yourself, not for the commission. 

Mr. KOVACIC. Yes, sir. I know that we have done work looking 
at trends in profitability and attempting to explain them. I don’t 
have a good sense of exactly what our research has shown on the 
point you ask, but I would be happy to check that and submit that 
in writing to you. 

Senator SCHUMER. You could submit that in writing. 
Do you have any thoughts on that, Dr. Hastings? 
Ms. HASTINGS. On the profitability of oil companies coinciding 

with the profitability— 
Senator SCHUMER. The price that OPEC sets, yes. 
Ms. HASTINGS. No, I have not looked into that issue. 
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Senator SCHUMER. Okay, and I will bet Dr. Felmy doesn’t quite 
agree with what I said, so let’s give him a chance. 

Mr. FELMY. Well, actually, Senator, because domestic prices 
move with world prices, because oil is an international commodity, 
you will see for that roughly, I guess, 35 percent of the crude oil 
that we actually produce here to use, higher margins for that crude 
as world prices go up. 

Senator SCHUMER. So if an oil company were interested, at least 
in the short term, in maximizing their profits, they would be 
happy, at least—let’s not get into collusion, but they would be 
happy to see OPEC raise its price? 

Mr. FELMY. Well, it depends on whether or not you are a refiner 
or a producer. If you are refiner, the answer is a decided no. If you 
are a producer, it tends to benefit you. 

Senator SCHUMER. Overall, let’s take Exxon Mobil—something 
that never should have existed, in my opinion; it should be Exxon 
and it should be Mobil. Those were the two biggest in my area and 
they were allowed to merge. 

Doesn’t Exxon Mobil do better profitability-wise when OPEC 
raises its price, because at least the domestic share— 

Mr. FELMY. I am not an expert, sir, on the split between the re-
fining, production, chemicals and all the other businesses that 
large corporations such as Exxon Mobil have ongoing. So I can’t 
speak to that, sir. 

Senator SCHUMER. Do you want to say something, Dr. Hastings? 
Ms. HASTINGS. Well, I don’t know Exxon Mobil’s exact ratio of 

production to consumption of crude oil. If they are a net producer 
of crude oil, then they benefit from it. If they are a net consumer 
of crude oil, they don’t benefit from it. It depends on the balance 
of their— 

Senator SCHUMER. Assuming that there is pure competition at 
the selling end, which there isn’t. 

Ms. HASTINGS. I am sorry. I didn’t quite understand. 
Senator SCHUMER. Even if they are a consumer, if they can pass 

all of that along in an inelastic way to the person who buys gaso-
line, home heating oil or whatever else, it is not going to hurt them 
even on their consuming side. They gain on the production side. 
Because of these mergers, they have an inelastic demand curve on 
the consumption side and it is a win-win. 

Ms. HASTINGS. Not necessarily. 
Senator SCHUMER. Go ahead and explain to me why. 
Ms. HASTINGS. Well, it depends. Imagine the opposite happening, 

the opposite being, as Mr. Felmy pointed out, suppose that Exxon 
was actually not a producer, but only a refiner. Before Tosco 
merged with Conoco Phillips, Tosco would have been in this cat-
egory. So they are only going to be purchasing crude oil. Then your 
assumption is actually that they are going to pass a hundred per-
cent of that crude oil price on to retail. 

Senator SCHUMER. But Tosco is not a fair example because they 
didn’t own gasoline stations. 

Ms. HASTINGS. They did own gasoline stations before they 
merged with Conoco Phillips. They owned the West Coast refining 
and marketing assets of Unocal Corporation. They owned the Circle 
K chain since 1996. 
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Senator SCHUMER. Did they have the same kind of market domi-
nance that, say, Exxon Mobil has at the pump in my area or any 
part of the country? 

Ms. HASTINGS. Most definitely, in Arizona. 
Senator SCHUMER. In Arizona? 
Ms. HASTINGS. Most definitely, in Arizona. 
Senator SCHUMER. So Tosco would have made money in Arizona. 
Ms. HASTINGS. And they most definitely had a large market 

share. And I am not agreeing that they would have made money 
in Arizona. They also had a large market share in California. 

Senator SCHUMER. Do you know what percent? 
Ms. HASTINGS. It depends on the metropolitan area. So I am 

thinking somewhere between 12—no, probably about 10 percent, 12 
percent. I could be off on that. 

Senator SCHUMER. I think that is a lot less than Exxon Mobil has 
in my area. True? 

Ms. HASTINGS. Perhaps. 
Senator SCHUMER. Oh, yes, more than perhaps. 
Ms. HASTINGS. I actually just looked at the percent that Exxon 

Mobil has in the New York metropolitan area. 
Senator SCHUMER. Good. What is it? 
Ms. HASTINGS. I am just not remembering off the top of my head, 

but I think it is probably closer to 20 percent. So, yes, they have 
a large market share in your area. 

Senator SCHUMER. What do you say to this, Dr. Cooper? 
Mr. COOPER. Well, the point is that they are integrated, and that 

has been one of the trends is that you have got more integrated re-
finers. So it is more and more difficult to talk about the refining 
sector because this is an integrated operation. 

Senator SCHUMER. Right. That is what I was trying to say. 
Mr. COOPER. So the point is that if you look at the bottom line 

of Exxon Mobil this year, folks, it is through the roof, and it is driv-
en significantly by crude oil prices, but also by the ability to keep—
if there were price resistance at the point of sale, the rise in crude 
prices would have squeezed down the domestic spread, and it did 
not. 

If you look at our testimony, the reason we are having so much 
shouting today is that both domestic spread and crude oil prices, 
the input prices, are at historic highs for an April, and it is the 
combination of that. I understand you could hypothesize other rea-
sons, but the simple fact of the matter is that there is no elasticity 
of demand at the point of sale. 

Senator SCHUMER. Right, and Dr. Hastings made the point be-
cause she had to go to something that doesn’t exist now, a large 
refiner that didn’t have production. That was Tosco, and who 
bought Tosco? I don’t even know. Who bought them? 

Ms. HASTINGS. Conoco Phillips. 
Senator SCHUMER. Conoco Phillips, a seller and a producer. 
Ms. HASTINGS. By the way, Tosco was just the first thing that 

came to my head. 
Senator SCHUMER. I understand, I understand, but I don’t think 

Tosco was the biggest sort of refiner qua refiner. 
Ms. HASTINGS. It might have actually been the largest inde-

pendent refiner at the time of the purchase. 
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Senator SCHUMER. That is what I am saying. The point I am 
making is the greater consolidation, vertical and horizontal, in this 
industry over the last several years has created less competition 
and has created not only higher prices, but a greater incentive, ei-
ther implicitly or even explicitly, for OPEC and the oil companies, 
the big ones, not everybody, to cooperate. 

I just have one more question here, and the Chairman has been 
very generous. This is about ethanol. Last week, there were rumors 
that the administration might have granted both New York and 
California a waiver from the ethanol mandate, and prices dropped 
for energy futures on the NYMEX. I think they went down 5.2 per-
cent for gasoline and 4.2 percent for crude oil. 

Anyone can answer this. Isn’t this empirical evidence that the 
waivers, if we were to allow New York, California and whatever 
other States wanted to that are far away from the corn-growing 
ethanol-producing centers—if we were to allow those States to meet 
the clean air standards by cracking gasoline somewhat differently, 
prices would come down some. 

Does anyone want to agree or disagree? Yes, Mr. Kovacic. 
Mr. KOVACIC. We haven’t tried to measure the exact effects of the 

substitution you mention, Senator, but an unmistakable finding 
that we have made is that measures that can be taken to preserve 
general levels of air quality while introducing more flexibility into 
the supply system, have possibilities in many areas to put greater 
downward pressure on prices. A more flexible supply and distribu-
tion system consistent with broad air quality goals is better for the 
competitive process. 

Senator SCHUMER. Dr. Felmy. 
Mr. FELMY. I would agree, Senator, that any measure that allows 

you to be able to increase the flexibility so that refiners can meet 
clean air without prescriptive solutions for that introduces flexi-
bility. It also introduces the possibility of additional imports. So we 
would agree with that position and we support waivers for every-
one. 

Senator SCHUMER. Does anyone disagree with that? 
Mr. COOPER. I agree with it, with a caveat. Bigger markets are 

better for consumers as long as the players in the markets are 
more. If it is the same players in the same big markets, I am not 
sure you diminish their market power. So when we look at making 
these bigger markets, we have to also make sure we increase the 
competitiveness of those markets or we may end up on a treadmill. 

Senator SCHUMER. One final question. This is for Mr. Bermann. 
We left the legal questions to the former prosecutors, Senator 
DeWine and Senator Specter. But as a cosponsor of Senator 
DeWine’s legislation, given that OPEC is a cartel specifically de-
signed to manipulate price, does the involvement of U.S. companies 
with OPEC raise any domestic antitrust issues? 

In other words, does the fact that some of the oil companies also 
own some of the production in the OPEC nations, such as whatever 
the name of that company is that I mentioned in my opening—
Motiva, the old Aramco—does that raise any antitrust issues inde-
pendent of the good legislation that Senator DeWine has offered? 

Mr. BERMANN. Well, the fact that those companies might be deal-
ing with foreign governments would not immunize them in any re-
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spect. The law has never gone any further than to say only the 
compulsion of a foreign government would operate as a defense. 

So if you had the kinds of predicate acts that you are thinking 
of, there is no question that I think the Sherman Act could apply 
to them. And the fact that they are dealing with or consorting with 
foreign governments will not immunize them. 

Indeed, if I can revert to the act of state doctrine, the courts have 
held routinely that the act of state doctrine only applies when the 
legality of what a foreign government does is in question and not 
when, if you will, the good faith or bad motivation of the foreign 
government is indirectly implicated. 

Senator SCHUMER. Do you agree with that, Mr. Kovacic, and does 
the FTC agree with that? 

Mr. KOVACIC. Again, speaking in my own capacity, I think Pro-
fessor Bermann has accurately described the requirement that 
there be compulsion. So the issue of fact would be, in the conces-
sion arrangements that govern their activities in these countries, 
are there measures in those arrangements that provide the req-
uisite compulsion. I think his technical assessment is correct. 

Senator SCHUMER. So would that mean that, say, Shell, which 
has ownership in Saudi Arabia and is part of this Aramco, which 
is part of OPEC, is susceptible to FTC action for what they do here 
because of their big network and operations here? 

Mr. KOVACIC. In any instance in which we would look at foreign 
behavior in these circumstances, we would generally take the view 
that without compulsion, for example, the behavior in question is 
fair game. So that would be the crucial factual issue. 

Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your 
having this hearing. 

Chairman DEWINE. Senator, thank you very much. 
Mr. Bermann, you have made some good suggestions on how we 

can improve this bill and we are certainly going to take a look at 
that. I want to thank you for that. That is one of the reasons we 
have these hearings. 

You made the point about the state of the law and told us a little 
bit about that, and we appreciate that. 

I might say there has been some editorial comment about this 
proposed bill that we couldn’t do this because there are legal im-
pediments. And I would just say your testimony has pointed out, 
I think, the fact that this bill would remove any legal impediments. 
Whatever legal impediments are out there—and that is an open 
question—but whatever legal impediments are out there, this bill 
eliminates them. That is why we introduced the bill. 

It is problematic whether or not suits could be brought now or 
not. I think they could be, but the whole purpose today of this bill 
is to make it so that prosecution can move forward, and make it 
clear that the antitrust laws of this country do, in fact, apply. 

The idea of the Department of Justice enforcing the antitrust 
laws against cartels is something that happens all the time, and 
they do it against not just domestic companies; they do it against 
foreign companies. It wasn’t too many years ago there was a law-
suit brought by the Department of Justice. It was an international 
cartel case against, I believe, German and Swiss firms for a vita-
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mins cartel. That case was successful. Foreign executives, I believe, 
were sent to jail. Two firms paid a fine of over $700 million. 

So the United States can reach the assets; the Justice Depart-
ment can reach those assets. We can attach those assets. We can 
bring those people into court. I have faith in the ability of the law-
yers at the Justice Department to get the job done, and that is why 
we have this bill to remove the impediments and let them go about 
their business and do their job and enforce our antitrust laws. This 
is the only major area that I know of where we say they can’t do 
it, and we think they should be able to do it. 

Mr. Kovacic, we have heard testimony today complaining about 
the FTC’s efforts to investigate the petroleum industry. In your tes-
timony, you talked about a number of actions and investigations 
that the FTC has conducted in this area, but it seems clear to me 
that consumers still believe that they are looking at a very dysfunc-
tional market. 

What else can the FTC do? 
Mr. KOVACIC. I think one of the most important things, Mr. 

Chairman, is to bring to a complete conclusion a great deal of the 
research that we have been doing that comes both from the active, 
almost real-time monitoring of price changes, the consequences of 
our retrospective assessments of completed transactions, the con-
tinued work that we are doing to enlist expert outsiders to tell us 
more about the industry—to bring that to a successful conclusion 
so that our understanding of the precise phenomena in question is 
more complete, to have a better sense, for example, of precisely 
how specific transactions or activities have affected market out-
comes. 

I have heard on a number of occasions Senator Wyden express 
his frustration, his disappointment with the inquiries. But our view 
has been in this and other areas that are terribly complex that the 
sound empirical foundation is the indispensable basis for making 
good policy. One of the first and most important things we can do 
is to bring those efforts to a close as a foundation for doing more 
work. 

Second, I think bringing to a successful close cases such as the 
Unocal case that I mentioned before, which we allege—our oppo-
nents in this case would strongly dispute my characterization—lit-
erally involves hundreds of millions of dollars for California con-
sumers, direct pass-through effects, to establish the principle that 
the regulatory process which is so important to the operation of 
this industry—clean air and clean water controls, other controls 
that govern the behavior of the industry—cannot be gamed, that 
firms subject to them cannot lie or misrepresent their behavior. 

And again I must emphasize I am offering the allegations in the 
commission’s complaint. These aren’t proven facts. To demonstrate 
that principle successfully would be, I think, a critical addition to 
our competition policy about what it says in petroleum and else-
where about the manipulation of regulatory schemes that do affect 
competitive outcomes. 

I think we have the humility, Senator, in listening to all of the 
representations here about additional avenues for research and 
analysis, to continue to pursue those paths. I am quite at peace 
with the process that continues to bring upon us possibilities for 
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additional analysis, new research, new areas for examination. Our 
process of policymaking takes those into account, so most certainly 
we would carefully consider and reflect upon the results of this pro-
ceeding as well. 

Chairman DEWINE. Let me ask you, do you agree with Dr. Coo-
per’s assessment that refining is excessively concentrated, and if 
so, does that mean that the FTC got it wrong when it reviewed the 
big mergers of the 1990’s in the petroleum industry? 

Mr. KOVACIC. When we look carefully at the contributions that 
the mergers in question made to concentration in refining, we find 
that those adjustments were modest, at most. Indeed, it is very dif-
ficult to detect, I believe, direct, convincing links between the merg-
ers we permitted, with conditions, with large divestitures, and no-
table increases in concentration in these markets. So I think that 
we and Dr. Cooper would have quite a debate about exactly how 
those mergers influenced refining concentration in those markets. 

Chairman DEWINE. Well, let me move to another area. There 
seems to be widespread agreement that petroleum companies run 
their refineries at a very high capacity, yet don’t build up new ca-
pacity to meet potential demand increases. 

We know that there are some difficulties in increasing refining 
capacity. We have talked about this a little bit today; environ-
mental permitting, for example. But on balance, it seems as though 
there ought to be some way the industry could boost refining capac-
ity. 

Why don’t we see more refining capacity come on line? Is there 
any other industry that comes to mind where producers run at this 
very high capacity year after year and don’t take any steps to in-
crease capacity? What is the difficulty here? 

Mr. KOVACIC. I think part of what we have observed, Mr. Chair-
man, is that utilization rates, at least in the past couple of years, 
to some extent have been falling a bit, so that we don’t have the 
level of tightness that prevailed before. 

I would have to check, Mr. Chairman, to look at exactly what our 
experience base tells us about actual improvements in the capacity 
of specific facilities that do remain on line. And if you will permit 
me to do so, I would like to supplement my answer with a fuller 
response. 

Chairman DEWINE. That would be fine. You can submit that. 
Mr. KOVACIC. But our impression is that certainly in some areas 

with respect to some facilities, we are seeing enhancements that do 
increase the capacity of existing facilities. 

Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Felmy, have you ever done a study esti-
mating what price we would pay for crude oil if it were subject to 
the free market instead of being fixed by OPEC? 

Mr. FELMY. I have really not, Mr. Chairman. An economist looks 
at cartels and has an academic view of how things go, but then 
when you transfer that analysis to the real world, there are many 
other things that happen. Cartel behavior is very complex. Behav-
ior of non-cartel members is also very complex. You also have dra-
matic changes in demand over time which can also affect the 
prices. So I don’t have an analysis of that. 

Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Hastings, do you? 
Ms. HASTINGS. I do not have an analysis of that. 
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Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Hastings, your testimony mentions that 
the Energy Information Administration of the Department of En-
ergy collects data, but does not let academics have access to de-
tailed data for research purposes. You also note that the Depart-
ment of Energy does not have grant programs for economists to do 
research on energy policy, and as a result the economic research 
into energy policy suffers. 

Can you explain your thoughts about these two points maybe in 
more detail to us? 

Ms. HASTINGS. Sure. In order to examine many of the questions 
that we have been discussing here, an applied economist needs to 
be able to get access to detailed data that would allow them to un-
derstand better issues. For example, suppose I wanted to look at 
the following question: Was there strategic capacity entry into mar-
kets that were regulated by reformulated gasoline requirements? 
How did firm choose capacities to enter into these markets? Are we 
going to be ready to supply Milwaukee’s market when they intro-
duced a specific type of gasoline only for that market? 

Price volatility went up substantially there, so did mark-ups, and 
the number of firms supplying unbranded gasoline decreased sub-
stantially after that introduction. So suppose you might want to 
ask the question, how tight are markets? Did firms anticipate this 
tightness when setting capacities when they went into the market? 

In order to look at something like that, you would actually need 
to look at refinery-level production decisions, and there is no way 
to actually get that information even though the Energy Informa-
tion Administration has such information. Typically, the only thing 
that one can get access to is very average data across the whole 
country or perhaps across a large part of the country on an aggre-
gated basis, kind of monthly or yearly information. 

One of the things that maybe Mr. Kovacic might agree with me 
on is that there is a real need for sound empirical work in indus-
trial organization to look at a lot of these questions. What is going 
on in natural gas? What is the effect of having these micro markets 
for different reformulated gasoline on prices, on competition, on 
who decides to enter and who doesn’t? Those questions could be an-
swered with good data. 

Currently, for the projects that I have done, it is incredibly dif-
ficult to get such detailed data and it takes a long time for an aca-
demic to get a hold of this data. Labor economists were in a similar 
position before the Census Bureau introduced a program that al-
lowed labor economists to look at detailed data at the Census Bu-
reau, confidential data on firm production decisions, for example, 
in manufacturing, on consumer behavior at the consumer level. 

What they did is introduce a program by which academic could 
apply to get access to the confidential data. It is a very stringent 
application process. Once they are granted this application, they 
actually have to go to the Census Bureau to use the data. They 
can’t take confidential data off-site. But having this access, this 
program set-up, led to a huge boom in the sound empirical knowl-
edge base of labor-related policies such as minimum wage laws, et 
cetera. 

Before that time, labor economists and labor issue policymakers 
were in the same position that many regulatory policymakers find 
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themselves in today. Having a program modeled after what the 
Census Bureau did perhaps at the Energy Information Administra-
tion may lead to the same boom in knowledge and understanding 
of what is affecting these energy markets.

Chairman DEWINE. Dr. Cooper, we have heard testimony that it 
is too hard to open a new refinery due to such reasons as huge 
costs, environmental issues and local opposition.

Do you disagree with these reasons? I mean, is that what the 
problem is?

Mr. COOPER. It is not that I disagree with the reasons. It is that 
we have observed the closure of refineries, which were clearly in-
dustrial sites that supported those refineries. They were permitted 
to exist in those locations. They were closed, we know, as part of 
a business strategy to diminish capacity. So what we asked for sev-
eral years ago was a study of those sites, a detailed analysis of why 
were they closed, what would it take to get them open, would there 
be people who are interested in reopening them.

I think Dr. Hastings has sort of raised the interesting question, 
because the really interesting thing is that the Federal Trade Com-
mission which studied the first price spike in 2000 actually asked 
exactly that question, the question she asked about: How do stra-
tegic decisions in the reconfiguration of refineries to meet the refor-
mulation requirements affect supply in that market.

The FTC asked that question not with the detailed data that she 
would like to have, but by interviewing all of the behaviors and the 
actors in those markets. And they concluded that, based on those 
interviews, strategic decisions had been made about how much ca-
pacity to have in a market that tightened them and cut off inde-
pendents.

Two years ago, the RAND Corporation did another study, based 
again not on the detailed data that she would like, but on the same 
sets of interviews, and they concluded exactly the same thing. So 
now we have the qualitative evidence on business decisions. Sen-
ator Wyden repeats his internal memos almost on a daily basis 
that those decisions were made.

So the answer is you hear the excuse that it is too hard to locate, 
it is too expensive, but you look at the people who have studied it 
and you discover that this was intended to increase the profit-
ability of refineries, that it was intended to accomplish certain sets 
of things. The definitive answer comes in a backward look around 
each of those price spikes with the data that Dr. Hastings has men-
tioned.

But I submit that there is another explanation. Now, we are 
through 4 years of unhinging in the gasoline market and nobody 
has looked at this issue in detail repeatedly, aggressively. What we 
get is excuses rather than explanations and analysis.

Chairman DEWINE. Well, I want to thank you all very much for 
your testimony. It has been very, very helpful and it has been a 
very instructive hearing. We have had a lot of interest in this hear-
ing and we do appreciate your testimony. This Subcommittee will 
continue to monitor this issue and we are going to continue to push 
forward and move forward on our bill.

Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 5:08 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Questions and answers and submissions for the record follow.]
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